THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge **Aug 26 2020**

Civil Action Case No. 2018-CP-40-01224
Appellate Case No. 2020-000550

SC Court of Appeals

Kevin L. PaulAppellant,

v.

Kevin L. Paul vs. Walmart Stores East, L.P.: Wal-Mart Supercenter,
d/b/a Wal-Mart Store 1339; and Richland County Sheriff's Office.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Patrick J. McLaughlin
Wukela Law Firm
P.O. Box 13057
Florence, SC 29504-3057
T: 843-669-5150
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE APPELLANT'S CAUSES OF ACTION DID NOT REST ENTIRELY ON THE CRIMINAL ACTIONS OF A THIRD PARTY.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO JUDICIAL AND/OR QUASI-JUDICIAL IMMUNITY FOR ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THE RESPONDENTS ASSUMED A VOLUNTARY DUTY.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE RESPONDENT ON THE APPELLANTS DEFAMATION CLAIMS AND ON REFUSING TO CORRECT INCORRECT FACTUAL FINDINGS WITHIN ITS ORDER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 29, 2017, RCSO Deputy Melvin Brown was dispatched to the WalMart Supercenter located on Two Notch Road in Columbia, South Carolina. WalMart had contacted RCSO to ask for assistance in dealing with an alleged shoplifting incident. Deputy Brown arrived and questioned the suspect, obtaining the Appellant's name and date of birth from the suspect. Brown ran that name and DOB through the National Crime Information Center (NCIC) on the computer terminal in his patrol vehicle, obtaining additional information on the Appellant such as his address, South Carolina's driver's license number, height, weight and eye color. Deputy Brown then provided all of that information to WalMart, arrested the suspect for shoplifting and had him transported to the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, where an arrest warrant was obtained in, and the suspect was booked under, the Appellant's name.

The information Brown obtained, subsequently provided to WalMart and which RCSO used to charge the suspect was incorrect. The suspect arrested was actually Mack

Paul, Jr., the Appellant's brother, who provided Brown his brother's name and date of birth.

RCSO knew that they had charged the wrong person and shared inaccurate information no later than April 28, 2017 when Sgt. Ronald "Cris" Truluck sent an email to the Pontiac Magistrate Court Clerk of Court requesting a continuance for a May 2, 2017 appearance because "the real Kevin Paul has a brother named Mack Paul who was using his name. The continuance is needed to clear this issue up when the arresting deputy comes back from vacation." WalMart took the information provided by RCSO and entered the Appellant into their system as a shoplifter, which automatically began a civil recovery process against the Appellant.

Despite the above, the false criminal charges remained pending against the Appellant, requiring him to retain an attorney and expend time and money in order to clear his name. It was not until June 26, 2017, sixty (60) days after Respondent's admitted notice that the Appellant had been falsely identified, that the criminal charges against the Appellant were dismissed. Respondent's own witnesses have admitted it was the Appellant's attorney who actually got the charges cleared and that they never contacted WalMart to inform them that they had provided WalMart with false identification information on the suspect.

On March 2, 2018, the Appellant brought a civil action against both RCSO and WalMart. That lawsuit alleged causes of action of malicious prosecution, defamation per se and gross negligence against RCSO and abuse of process, malicious prosecution and defamation per se against WalMart. The claims against WalMart were resolved. RCSO moved for summary judgment. The Appellant filed a response in opposition to that

motion for summary judgment and a hearing was held on that motion and a pending motion for protective order on January 30, 2020.

An order was issued by the Court granting RCSO's motion for summary judgment on February 24, 2020. The Appellant filed a timely motion to alter or amend judgment/reconsider on March 2, 2020. An order was issued by the Court on March 24, 2020, denying Appellant's motion.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE APPELLANT'S CAUSES OF ACTION WERE INDEPENDENT OF THE CRIMINAL ACTIONS OF A THIRD PARTY.

In its order granting summary judgment, the trial court stated: "Taking the facts in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, any damages sustained in this matter arose as a result of the criminal activities of his brother, Mack Brown [sic]." (R. p.7) The trial court's order then proceeds to quote a page of deposition testimony that portrays the testimonial evidence in this case similar to what was initially represented to the trial court at the motions hearing, where the Respondent argued that the suspect "goes around memorizing – he's a pro – he memorizes his good brothers information." (R. p.111, lines 14-15)

After recounting the deposition transcript excerpts, the trial court found:

Based on the foregoing testimony, "but for" Plaintiff's brother's shoplifting and then giving false arrest to the police, Plaintiff would not have suffered the damages as alleged in the Complaint. To this extent, Plaintiff's alleged loss arose from the criminal actions of the third party Mack Brown [sic] and therefore, is fully barred by the SCTCA.
(R. p.9)

There is a footnote at the end of the quoted language above in the trial court's order. That footnote states:

That as to Plaintiff's defamation claim, this Defendant asserts the affirmative defense of conditional or qualified privilege. Under this defense, one who publishes defamatory matter concerning another is not liable for the publication if: (1) the matter is published upon an occasion that makes it conditionally privileged, and (2) the privilege is not abused. *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 484, 514 S.E.2d 126, 134 (1999). When the occasion gives rise to a qualified privilege, a prima facie presumption to rebut the inference of malice exists, and the plaintiff has the burden to show either actual malice or that the scope of the privilege has been exceeded. *See, Knust v. Loree*, 424 S.C. 24, 43, 817 S.E.2d 295, 304-05 (Ct. App. 2018). This Court finds that it was the false information furnished by Plaintiff's brother to Wal-Mart and law enforcement employees which led to its inclusion on charging documents. As such, this Defendant is entitled to a qualified privilege. Since Plaintiff is not alleging actual malice on the part of this Defendant's representatives, Plaintiff's cause of action for defamation fails.

(R. p.9, fn.1)

However, as the Appellant pointed out at the hearing, these representations made to the trial court were not accurate.

Your Honor, first off, there were representations made that Walmart got the information from this gentleman. That's not what the Walmart employee testified to. He got the information from Richland County. Richland County, the representations were made that the bad brother memorized all this information and gave it to them. That's not what happened. According to their own deputy what happened was the bad brother knew his brother's name and the date of birth. That deputy then plugs it into the terminal in his car, gets all the other information that goes with it, he shares that with Walmart. That's where the deformation [sic] comes from. Richland County identified my client as, as the identity of the person Walmart had arrested. That's what Walmart's employee testified to. That was what Deputy Brown testified to in his deposition. The phrase "but for" was used. The "but for" in this case stops on April 28, 2017. On April 28, 2017, Sumter County investigator who had a relationship with Sergeant Truluck in Richland County, she's looking for the bad brother for grand theft. She finds out he got arrested ---

--- And so she looks up on Richland County on the Alvin S. Glenn website, looks it up and sees the guy she's looking for, for stealing a car but realizes that ain't his name. She calls, she calls Truluck. She gets him on the phone. She says this is the wrong guy. The guy y'all got, the name y'all got he's a county employee over here. He's a good guy. The other brother is ne'er-do-well. Truluck, in his deposition, admits that he got online, he pulled up the pictures to compare of the booking photo of the

bad brother and the drivers license of my client. He admits, I could tell right away it was the wrong guy. That day he sends an email to Deputy Brown that says – it's got the picture of, um, the bad brother drivers license picture that correctly identifies him. Then it's got the bad brother's booking photo with my guy's information on. And then it's got a little line that says, "now, meet the real Kevin Paul," my client. And then it's got my client's picture on. And it said, you know, "get up with me Monday, we'll take your – well we'll work on getting this fixed." That same day Truluck sends an email to the Pontiac Magistrate that says "this case is scheduled for a," this is April 28th, "there's a court appearance May 2nd. It needs to be continued. The wrong person is identified." Truluck testifies that after sending that email to Brown, that's all he did. Brown has testified that he got that email from Truluck. We took his deposition just a few weeks ago, Brown's deposition. Brown has with him a memo that he sent to the Pontiac Magistrate Court that says, "the May date has got to be continued, it's the wrong person." He faxes it over with a plea offer sheet that has the case number on it, my guy's name, and it's got on the plea offer sheet where you can check, you can write in a plea and check plea **or you can mark it dismissed**. He doesn't mark dismissed on it. He just used it as the fax cover sheet. I said, "Well, why didn't you just mark dismissed on it?" **"Well, I don't know."** **"Well, what did you do after that to clear this up?"** **"Nothing. It wasn't my responsibility after that."**

(R. p.120, line 25- p.123, line 14) *emphasis added*.

As noted at the hearing, the Appellant specifically avoided relying on criminal actions of a third party by not bringing an action for false arrest:

So we didn't bring a claim of false arrest, judge. Because I think arguably Richland County it's an honest mistake. I think it was – I think it's negligence to take the theft's word for what they're saying, but, okay, whatever. This is about what the malicious prosecution and the case law says that it isn't just about instituting the charges it's the continuation of the charges. And we've got two emails from Richland County Agents after they both knew that it's the wrong person. Because Holdorf testified when Marion and my client walked in he could look at him and say, "Oh yeah. That's not him." You know, **so after they knew that this was the wrong guy they actually communicated to the court to continue the criminal case. Not to dismiss it, to continue it. And so I believe that those factual situations leave them up there.**

(R. p.125, lines 7-22) *emphasis added*.

This argument was memorialized in section II of the Appellant's response, captioned "There is a material question of fact as to whether probable cause existed to charge the Plaintiff with a crime and, assuming arguendo, such probable cause did ever

exist, it disappeared once Defendant RCSO admitted knowing the Plaintiff had never committed the alleged criminal conduct." (R. p.47) emphasis added. In that

section, the Appellant noted:

In order to recover in an action for malicious prosecution, the plaintiff must show, (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings, either civil or criminal; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) the termination of such proceedings in the plaintiff's favor; (4) defendant's malice in instituting the proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause for the proceeding; and (6) resulting injury or damage." Ruff v. Eckerds Drugs, Inc., 265 S.C. 563, 220 S.E.2d 649 (1975), *emphasis added*.

Probable cause, which is a defense to an action for malicious prosecution, has been defined as "the existence of such facts or circumstances as would excite the belief of a reasonable mind, acting on facts within the knowledge of the prosecutor, that the person charged was guilty of the crime for which he was prosecuted." Ruff at 568, 652.

Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rest on such grounds that would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise. Jones v. Columbia, 301 S.C. 62, 65, 389 S.E.2d 662, 663 (1990) and Ralph King Anderson, Jr., South Carolina Requests to Charge – Civil, 2002, §26-3.

The issue of probable cause is essentially a question of fact and ordinarily for the determination of the jury. Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (1992), citing Jones at 65, 663.

(R. p.48)

The Respondent admits the Appellant never committed the alleged crime of shoplifting. During the deposition of Sgt. Travis Holdorf, regarding a written statement that the Appellant had to come in to RCSO headquarters to give on June 21, 2017:

Q: At this, at this point in time, Kevin's done nothing wrong?

A: I had nothing saying that Kevin did anything wrong.

Q: He had committed no crime?

A: I can't say that but there is no crimes I know of he did.

(R. p.49), quoting *Deposition of Sgt. Travis Holdorf*, (R. 69, lines, 9-15)

Respondent knew as early as April 28, 2017 that the Appellant was not the person who had committed the alleged shoplifting on March 29, 2017. During the deposition of Sgt. Cris Truluck, Sgt. Truluck confirmed what the Appellant had alleged in his complaint, that the Respondent was contacted by Inv. Jennifer Thomas with the Sumter County Sheriff's Office. (R. p. 18, ¶ 12)

Q: How did you get involved in this case?

A: Investigator Jennifer Thomas contacted me over an issue with, I believe, the plaintiff in this case, a mistaken identity with his brother. (R. p. 49), quoting *Deposition of Sgt. Cris Truluck*, (R. p. 74, lines 15-18)

and:

Q: Okay. Did she tell you that y'all had the wrong person identified?

A: Yes.

(R. p. 49), quoting *Deposition of Sgt. Cris Truluck*, (R. p. 74, lines 13-15)

Sgt. Truluck was examined about an email he sent to Pontiac Magistrate Court Clerk of Court Wanda Durel. That email was dated April 28, 2017, courtesy copied Inv. Jennifer Thomas and read:

Will you please continue the shoplifting case for Kevin Paul which is scheduled for May 2, 2017. The real Kevin Paul has a brother named Mack Paul who was using his name. The continuance is needed to clear this issue up when the arresting deputy comes back from vacation.

When examined about the circumstances around that email, Sgt. Truluck testified as follows:

Q: Had Jennifer – and maybe I'm mistaken about this. Jennifer – that email was not sent until after Jennifer had reached out to you, right?

A: That is correct.

Q: And did you send that email to the court the same day or was that something that happened later?

A: I would assume it was the same day. It could have been the following day. Like I say, I don't know for sure. It was pretty in close proximity of her reaching out to me, though. I would assume that would be the proper thing to do.

Q: Was Investigator Thomas pretty clear on the fact that she believed y'all had the wrong person identified?

A: Yes.

Q: And did you have any reason to doubt Investigator Thomas?
A: No. I saw the photos myself.
Q: Okay. So that's where I'm going to. Well, how did you see the photos?
A: Because I was able to pull up the Paul that got arrested compared to the Paul that didn't get arrested, DMV compared to Alvin S. Glenn, and could clearly see Kevin Paul didn't get arrested. What's the other one's name, Mark?
Q: Mack. Mack Paul –
A: Mack.
Q: -- is the other one.
A: Mack Paul got arrested, so.
Q: Okay. And so if, if what I understand you're telling me is you looked up Kevin Paul digitally and saw his driver's license and then you also looked up Mack Paul digitally and saw the booking photo and you were able to compare the two and tell they were not the same person?
A: Yes.
Q: And is it fair to assume that you would have done that the day you were contacted by Investigator Thomas?
A: Yes.
(R. p. 50), quoting *Deposition of Sgt. Cris Truluck*, (R. p.76, line 24 – p.78, line

13)

The Respondent produced in discovery a copy of an email that had been sent by Sgt. Truluck to Deputy Brown dated April 28, 2017 at 3:01 p.m. In that email, Truluck sent Brown three pictures: First, is the DL picture of Mack Paul Jr. Second, is the booking photo of the arrested suspect (falsely listed as “Kevin Lee Paul”). Third, and after the caption “Meet the Real Kevin Paul,” is the DL picture of the Plaintiff. During his deposition, Brown admitted the hand-writing on the copy of the email produced that said “Real Name Defendant” beside Mack Paul Jr.’s DL photo was his hand-writing acknowledging that was the true identity of the person he had arrested. (R. p.51), referencing *Deposition of Melvin Brown*, (R. p.87, line 23 – p.88, line 5)

As the Appellant argued, the discovery in this case showed that there was a material question of fact as to whether the Respondent had “a good faith belief that [the Appellant] was guilty of a crime when this belief rest on such grounds that would induce

an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise,” at the time they chose a “**continuation**” of the criminal prosecution of the Appellant through their April 28th and June 22nd 2017 emails, when Sgt. Truluck and Sgt. Holdorf admitted to knowing the Appellant had committed no crime.

Probable cause in a malicious prosecution context turns “upon whether the facts within the prosecutor’s knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the plaintiff was guilty of the crimes charged.” Kinton v. Mobile Home Industries, Inc., 274 S.C. 179, 181, 262 S.E.2d 727, 728 (1980). In this case, Respondent has admitted to **knowing** the Appellant was not guilty of the crime charged, yet **continuing** the criminal prosecution. It would be a reasonable inference for a jury to find such conduct grossly negligent. (R. p.96)

“Taking the facts in light most favorable to Plaintiff, any damages sustained in this matter arose as a result of the criminal activities of his brother, Mack Brown [*sic*].” (R. p.7) This finding by the trial court, right before it begins quoting edited deposition testimony excerpts in its order ignores the admissions by the Respondent of their own acts and failures to act that came **after** and were **independent of** any criminal actions of the brother. As the Appellant argued at the hearing, the “but for” of blaming any injury on the brother ended on April 28, 2017. The brother had absolutely nothing to do with the decisions to ask that the criminal charges be continued instead of dismissed or the failure by the Respondent to ever actually follow-up and make sure the matter was resolved. The Respondent is solely responsible for those acts and omissions and any damage they caused. As such, the trial court’s order should be reversed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO JUDICIAL AND/OR QUASI-JUDICIAL IMMUNITY FOR ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS.

As part of its order granting summary judgment, the trial court found that the actions by the Respondent that caused the harmful delay to the Appellant were “administrative actions (or any such alleged inactions)” and “were of a judicial or quasi-judicial nature and as a result, the [Respondent] is entitled to absolute immunity.”

(R. p.11)

Appellant had originally addressed this issue in his response when addressing exceptions to the waiver of immunity contained within S.C. Code §15-78-60, noting that in the case of Faile v. South Carolina Dept. of Juvenile Justice, 350 S.C. 315, 566 S.E.2d 536 (2002), the South Carolina Supreme Court had refused to grant absolute immunity to law enforcement officers in similar situations.

The *Faile* court refused to accept DJJ’s argument that a probation agent being sued for improper placement of a juvenile was immune pursuant to exception (1) because a court order allowed the placement. In refusing to accept DJJ’s order, the *Faile* court noted, “Just as police officers are not granted absolute immunity when they apply for arrest warrants, probation officers generally are not immune in performing their enforcement duties.” Faile at 326, citing to Gant v. United States Probation Office, 994 F.Supp. 729 (S.D. W. Va. 1998); Acevedo v. Pima County Adult Prob. Dept., 142 Ariz. 319, 690 P.2d 38 (Ariz. 1984).

Similar to *Faile*, the complained of conduct in this case cannot be considered judicial or quasi-judicial or administrative judicial or quasi-judicial conduct in nature and would not fit within exceptions (1) or (2).

(R. p.43)

In his motion to alter or amend/reconsider, Appellant pointed out that the trial court’s finding that these actions or failures to act were “administrative actions” precluded the acts or omissions from enjoying judicial or quasi-judicial immunity.

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