THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000550
Case No. 2018-CP-10-1224

RECEIVED
Jul 01 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Kevin L. Paul, Appellant,

v.

Richland County Sheriff's Office, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Robert D. Garfield, Esquire
CROWE LAFAVE, LLC
500 Taylor Street, Suite 202
Post Office Box 1149
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 999-1225

Counsel for Respondent

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

II. The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment on the Appellant’s cause of action for malicious prosecution based on immunity pursuant to Section 15-78-60(23), which is an alternative basis for summary judgment that the Appellant has not challenged on appeal.

In addition, the trial court ruled that the Appellant’s malicious prosecution claim is barred by Section 15-78-60(23) of the Tort Claims Act. (Order I, p. 7). Paul did not appeal that ruling. There is no discussion of Section 15-78-60(23) in the Appellant’s opening brief -- either in the statement of issues on appeal or in the arguments. As a result, this implicates the two-issue rule as a basis for affirmance. In applying the “two-issue” rule, the Supreme Court has explained that “where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Similarly, in *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1986), this Court held that “[a]n alternative ruling of a trial court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the trial court and is not reviewable on appeal.” 348 S.E.2d at 845.

As the trial court ruled, the RCSO enjoys sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(23) for the Appellant’s malicious prosecution claim. It is well settled that the elements of malicious prosecution under state law are: “(1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in plaintiff’s favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage.” *Broyhill v. Resolution Management Consultants, Inc.*, 401 S.C. 466, 736 S.E.2d 867, 870-71 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, one of the six elements that the Appellant

false identity, the Appellant would never have been implicated nor had his name placed on an arrest warrant.

needs to prove is “the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings.” In virtually identical language, Section 15-78-60(23) provides absolute immunity for the “institution or prosecution of any judicial or administrative proceeding.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(23). Therefore, because an element of a malicious prosecution cause of action falls squarely within an immunity provision, authority from this Court and the Supreme Court dictates that a governmental entity enjoys absolute immunity for that cause of action.

This issue has often arisen in the context of Section 15-78-60(17), by which a governmental entity enjoys absolute sovereign immunity for “conduct ... which constitutes actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(17). In applying this immunity exception, the appellate courts have looked strictly at the elements of the cause of action to determine if sovereign immunity attaches. In the seminal case of *Eldeco, Inc. v. Charleston County School District*, 372 S.C. 470, 642 S.E.2d 726 (2007), the Supreme Court determined that “[n]one of the elements required for either cause of action ... include ‘intent to harm.’ Although it is true that harm may result from an intentional interference with existing or prospective contractual relations, it is not necessary that the interfering party intend such harm.” 642 S.E.2d at 732. Consequently, where “intent to harm” is not an element of the cause of action, the Court concluded that the immunity exception is inapplicable. Citing *Eldeco*, this Court later applied the same analysis in *Swicegood v. Lott*, 379 S.C. 346, 665 S.E.2d 211 (Ct. App. 2008), with respect to an abuse of process claim. In that case, this Court observed that “the tort of abuse of process contains neither an element of intent to harm, nor actual malice.” 665 S.E.2d at 214. Because neither “intent to harm” nor “actual malice” is an element of the abuse of process claim, this Court concluded that such a claim could proceed against the entity.

In the present case, unlike in *Eldeco* and *Swicegood*, a requisite element of a malicious prosecution claim -- the institution and prosecution of a judicial proceeding -- does constitute immune conduct under the Tort Claims Act. As a result, the RCSO is entitled to absolute sovereign immunity on the Appellant's malicious prosecution claim on this additional basis.

This very issue was adjudicated in the case of *McCoy v. City of Columbia*, 929 F.Supp.2d 541 (D.S.C. 2013), where the United States District Court correctly ruled that a malicious prosecution claim against a municipality was barred by Section 15-78-60(23). Judge Joseph F. Anderson Jr. wrote as follows:

The City also contends that it is immune from liability for McCoy's malicious prosecution claim under the SCTCA's immunity relating to "the institution or prosecution of a judicial proceeding." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(23). The Magistrate Judge recommended that the court grant the City's motion for summary judgment on this issue because McCoy's cause of action for malicious prosecution plainly falls within this express exception. The court agrees.

929 F.Supp.2d at 567, n. 10. Similarly, in *Thompson v. City of Columbia*, 2005 WL 8164911 (D.S.C. 2005), Judge Cameron M. Currie ruled: "It is fairly clear from the plain language of the statute, particularly § 15-78-60(23), that the legislature intended to exclude claims for malicious prosecution from the waiver of immunity for governmental entities in the Tort Claims Act." 2005 WL 8164911, *4. (Emphasis in original). Judge Currie recognized that "[u]nder South Carolina law, the first element of a claim for malicious prosecution is 'institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings, either civil or criminal.'" 2005 WL 8164911, *3. She thus concluded that "there is no set of facts alleged in the complaint or that could be proved to support Plaintiff's claim of malicious prosecution against City, a governmental entity." 2005 WL 8164911, *4. Other federal judges have also dismissed claims for malicious prosecution as

barred by Section 15-78-60(23) immunity. *See, Palmer v. Santanna*, 2018 WL 1477600 (D.S.C. 2018); *Terrell v. City of Spartanburg*, 2018 WL 4782334 (D.S.C. 2018).

In sum, the trial court correctly ruled that the RCSO is entitled to absolute sovereign immunity for the institution and prosecution of a criminal proceeding as required by the literal language of Section 15-78-60(23). Quite simply, under the Tort Claims Act, there is no state law remedy for malicious prosecution against a governmental entity. The Court should affirm on the basis of the “two-issue” rule because the Appellant did not appeal that ruling, and whether correct or not, that ruling is the law of the case.

III. The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment on the gross negligence cause of action based on Tort Claim Act immunity defenses and lack of duty.

In his opening brief, the Appellant argues that the RCSO “voluntarily assumed” a duty “to clear the false charges against the Plaintiff.” *See*, Appellant’s Opening Brief, p. 14. No such “voluntary duty” was even pled in the Complaint. Nonetheless, the trial court disposed of the Appellant’s gross negligence claim based on the Tort Claims Act immunity defenses as discussed above. A claim of gross negligence against a prosecutor with respect to the dismissal of a criminal charge falls within the scope of prosecutorial or “quasi-judicial” immunity under subsections (1) and (2) of Section 15-78-60. Therefore, even if a duty of care exists, it still gives rise to an immune function under the Tort Claims Act.

The trial court also dismissed the gross negligence cause of action on an additional basis citing *Wyatt v. Fowler*, 326 S.C. 97, 484 S.E.2d 590 (1997). In that case the Supreme Court ruled that a sheriff and his deputies were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on a negligence claim related to the attempted execution of an arrest warrant against the wrong individual -- a

similar mistaken identity scenario as in the case at bar. The Supreme Court explained that “the state does not owe its citizens a duty of care to proceed without error when it brings legal action against them.” 484 S.E.2d at 592. The Supreme Court further ruled that “the police owe a duty to the public at large and not to any individual.” *Id.* Consequently, based on *Wyatt*, the trial court found no duty of care was owed to Paul.

On appeal, the Appellant has not challenged the trial court’s decision based on *Wyatt*, and hence, his appeal on the gross negligence claim is barred by the “two-issue” rule. In fact, the Appellant makes no mention in his opening brief of the *Wyatt* decision or the trial court’s ruling based thereon. Nonetheless, the trial court’s reliance on *Wyatt* is sound and should be affirmed on its merits. As *Wyatt* holds, the RCSO did not owe a duty of care sounding in tort to proceed without error when it brings legal action. That would be equally applicable to a decision to dismiss a pending criminal charge. For these reasons, the summary judgment on the gross negligence claim should be affirmed.

IV. The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment on the defamation cause of action based on Section 15-78-60(23) immunity and a qualified privilege.

The Appellant also contends that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment on his defamation claim. In his opening brief, the Appellant argues that Deputy Melvin Brown defamed the Appellant when he provided identifying information to Jonathan Simons, an asset protection associate with Wal-Mart. It is undisputed, however, that the shoplifter (now known to be Mack Paul) had no identification on his person and verbally identified himself as Kevin Paul. The shoplifter also provided Kevin Paul’s date of birth. With that information, Deputy Brown made an inquiry through the National Crime Information Center (NCIC) and learned additional

identifying information on the Appellant, which he shared with the Wal-Mart official. Thus, the defamation claim is premised on the argument that the RCSO deputy defamed the Appellant by conveying the mistaken identity of the shoplifter that had been communicated to him by the shoplifter, that being the Appellant's own brother.

“The tort of defamation permits a plaintiff to recover for injury to his reputation caused by the defendant's communication to others of a false message about plaintiff.” *McBride v. School District of Greenville County*, 389 S.C. 546, 698 S.E.2d 845, 852 (Ct. App. 2010). “To prove defamation, the plaintiff must show: (1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.” *Id.* “Under the law of defamation, however, certain communications give rise to qualified privileges, including the privilege to publish fair and substantially accurate reports of judicial and other governmental proceedings without incurring liability.” *West v. Morehead*, 396 S.C. 1, 720 S.E.2d 495, 498 (Ct. App. 2011). *See, White v. Wilkerson*, 328 S.C. 179, 493 S.E.2d 345, 348 (1997) (“[t]he fair report privilege protects fair and accurate reports of judicial records and proceedings and other official acts, reports, and records”); *Padgett v. Sun News*, 278 S.C. 26, 31, 292 S.E.2d 30, 33 (1982) (fair and accurate reports based on public records were privileged). *See also, Yohe v. Nugent*, 321 F.3d 35, 43 (1st Cir. 2003) (“[t]he fair report privilege protects published reports of arrests by police”).

It is well settled that “the question whether an occasion gives rise to a qualified or conditional privilege is one of law for the court.” *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129, 542 S.E.2d 743, 749 (Ct. App. 2001). “It is the duty of the trial judge to determine if the statement is privileged.” *Id.* In general terms, the law on qualified privilege provides that “one who

publishes defamatory matter concerning another is not liable for the publication if (1) the matter is published upon an occasion that makes it conditionally privileged, and (2) the privilege is not abused.” *Murray*, 542 S.E.2d at 748. The Supreme Court has explained:

In determining whether or not the communication was qualifiedly privileged, regard must be had to the occasion and to the relationship of the parties. When one has an interest in the subject matter of a communication, and the person (or persons) to whom it is made has a corresponding interest, every communication honestly made, in order to protect such common interest, is privileged by reason of the occasion. The statement, however, must be such as the occasion warrants, and must be made in good faith to protect the interests of the one who makes it and the persons to whom it is addressed.

Id., citing *Bell v. Bank of Abbeville*, 208 S.C. 490, 38 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1946).

In case at bar, the trial court determined that the communication at issue is subject to a qualified privilege which is consistent with South Carolina law. Deputy Brown was providing information to the victim (Wal-Mart) regarding the identity of the person arrested for shoplifting. A mis-identity took place only because the shoplifter gave his own brother’s name and date of birth, which Deputy Brown did not know to be untrue.³ The Appellant has not shown nor argued any abuse of the privilege or that the communication was made with actual malice.⁴

³ In a similar context, the Supreme Court recently expressed the public policy implications that generally arise where mistaken information about the identity of a suspect is communicated in good faith as part of a law enforcement investigation. The Supreme Court found that “punishing an individual who mistakenly identifies a criminal suspect or unwittingly provides what is later discovered to be incorrect information in a criminal investigation serves no purpose.” *Huffman v. Sunshine Recycling, LLC*, 426 S.C. 262, 826 S.E.2d 609, 616 (2019). That discussion clearly supports the recognition in the present case that a qualified privilege applies to an exchange of information in good faith between law enforcement and a crime victim within the context of a criminal investigation.

⁴ See, *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit*, 334 S.C. 469, 514 S.E.2d 126, 134 (1999) (“[w]here the occasion gives rise to a qualified privilege, there is a prima facie presumption to rebut the inference of malice, and the burden is on the plaintiff to show actual malice or that the scope of the privilege has been exceeded”).

The trial court also concluded that the defamation claim is barred by Section 15-78-60(20) because the incorrect information conveyed by Deputy Brown to the Wal-Mart official resulted from the criminal conduct of the shoplifter, Mack Paul, when he provided a false identity to law enforcement. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-725 (“It is unlawful for a person to misrepresent his identification to a law enforcement officer during a traffic stop or for the purpose of avoiding arrest or criminal charges”). The trial court concluded that “‘but for’ Plaintiff’s brother’s shoplifting and then giving false [information] to the police, Plaintiff would not have suffered the damages as alleged in the Complaint.” (Order I, p. 4).

In his brief, the Appellant does not take exception with the application of Section 15-78-60(20) immunity. He appears only to challenge the finding of a qualified privilege based upon an issue that was never pled nor raised in the court below -- that the RCSO had a duty “to correct that false, defamatory publication once they had notice of its falsity.” *See*, Appellant’s Opening Brief, p. 21. Because that argument was never made in the trial court, it cannot be made for the first time on appeal. *See, Wilder Corp. v. Wilkie*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”). Additionally, it should be noted that the Appellant offers no supporting authority and makes the argument merely in a brief, conclusory manner.⁵

Nonetheless, even if the Court considers the merits of that argument, there is no South Carolina authority holding that a publisher of a defamatory statement has a duty to make a

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